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AA-169 
Primrose Hill 
Anne Arundel County' Maryland 

Primrose Hill is located at 3 Milkshake Lane in the City of Annapolis, Anne Arundel County, 
Maryland. Situated on a two-acre parcel, the c. 1760 two-and-a-half story, four-room plan brick 
dwelling faces southwest with the principal gable roof oriented on a northwest/southeast axis. 
The house stands near the crest of a knoll with the grade sloping downward on three sides. On 
the southwest side the front yard shows distinct signs of intentional grading for two tiers of 
terraces. The two-and-a-half story, four-bay, double-pile brick house is extended to the rear by a 
two-story common bond brick kitchen dating from the second quarter of the nineteenth century, 
and early twentieth century porches are attached to the front and rear elevations. Extending to 
the southeast is a 1986 hyphen and single-story wing addition also built in brick. The entire house 
is painted white. Joining the house on the let is an early twentieth- century rusticated concrete 
block garage. 

GENERAL DESCRIPTION 

The two-and-a-half story, four-bay by two-bay main block is supported on a raised 
foundation of three-course common bond, whereas the exterior walls are laid in a combination of 
header, Flemish and common bonds. The medium pitched gable roof is sheathed with seamed 
tin. 

The southwest (main) elevation is a four-bay facade with the first story sheltered by the 
early twentieth-century shed roofed porch supported by Tuscan columns. The porch is enclosed. 
A side-lighted porch door is flanked by paired windows. The edge of the roof has exposed rafter 
feet. The front wall of the brick house is defined by a molded brick watertable, and the header 
bond rises to the height of the belt course. The header bond wall is pierced by an off-center 
double door entrance in the second bay from the southwest corner, and nine-over-nine sash 
windows mark the remaining bays. Jack arches span each of the window opening and each arch is 
undercut with a segmental arch. The entrance is a double door opening which was reworked 
during the early nineteenth century. The split leaf doors are defined by three shallow panels w 
each leaf and the outside corners of each panel are distinguished by quarter round cut. The door 
reveals are similarly finished, and a diamond pane transom tops the double doors. Louvered 
shutters flank the adjacent windows. The second floor is lighted by four nine-over-six sash 
windows flanked by louvered shutters as well. Finishing the top of the wall is a bold, plastered 
cove cornice. Fixed atop the metal roof are a pair of nineteenth-century gable roofed dormers 
filled with six-over-six sash windows. The dormers are trimmed with second quarter of the 
nineteenth-century moldings. 

(Continued) 
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The northwest gable end is defined by two nine-over-nine sash windows on the first story, 
and two four-over-four sash windows on the second story. Lighting the attic is a pair of six-over­
six sash windows. The windows on each floor are flanked by louvered shutters. Rising in the 
center of the wall against the interior end chimney stack is a later furnace flue. The tops of the 
cliirnney are finished with corbelled caps. Finishing the edge of the roofis a later bargeboard 
molding. 

The northeast (rear) wall of the main block is partially covered by a two-story, two-bay 
kitchen wing covered by a shed roof. The wi.'lg is laid in common bond with a beltcourse and six­
over-six sash ·windows define each floo::-. The windows are framed by half-round molded 
surrounds, and each opening is flanked by louvered shutte•s Risi:ig through the end is a single 
flue stack. The balance of the rear wall is defined by an entrance and adjacent nine-over-nine sash 
windows topped by finely crafted jack arches. The !"ear ent:-ance is sheltered by a single-bay 
porch. The top of the wall is finished with a bold cove cornice, aiso executed in plaster. There 
are no dormers on the northeast slope of the roof. 

The southeast gable end is partially covered by the single-story hyphen addition. Nine­
over-nine sash windows topped by jack arches define the outer bays, and a narrow four-over-four 
sash window pierces the southeast comer of the second story. The southwest comer is defined by 
a bank of three nine-over-six sash windows. Brick beltcourses define the second and third floor 
levels. A pair of six-over-six sash windows light the attic and flank the interior end brick chimney. 
Finishing the top of the stack is a corbelled cap. 

The first floor is divided into a four-room plan with a stairhall fixed between the rear two 
rooms. The southwest room served as the original entrance hall and is served by a corner 
fireplace. A portion of a later partition remains to partially divide the space in an effort to create a 
forma! center passage plan during the early twentieth century. Original to the space is a built-in 
cupboard located in the southwest comer. The two-part comer cupboard is distinguished by 
raised-panel doors and flanking pilasters. The arched doors that enclose the top portion have 
three raised panels to each leaf, and fluted pilasters are fixed to each side. The interior is filled 
with a series of curved front shelves. The single-panel doors to the lower cupboard are framed by 
plain pilasters. Between the two sections is a mid eighteenth-century bolection molding. The 
arched header above the upper cupboard doors is enhanced by a molded key block. To each side 
of the cupboard are Federal nine-over-nine sash windows framed by early nineteenth-century 
surrounds featuring a narrow ovolo and cove backhand profile. The projecting window seat 

(Continued) 
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survives with a raised-panel front and a second raised panel below the window opening. A 
portion of the mid eighteenth-century chair rail remains in place as well. The fireplace is 
distinguished by a mid nineteenth-century Victorian mantel with chamfered pilasters and a 
bracketed shelf. Along the inside hall wall are two doorways; the door into the rear stairhall 
survives with a mid eighteenth-century door surround framing a mid nineteenth-century four­
panel door, whereas a twentieth-century door surround frame an eighteenth-century six-panel 
door that opens into the southeast room. The hall/parlor wall is pierced by a widened door 
opening that survives with sections of mid eighteenth-century door moldings. 

The parlor is distinguished by a comb!nation of eighteenth-, nineteenth-, and twentieth­
century woodwork as well. A Colonial Revival mantel frames the brick fireplace. Fluted Ionic 
columns rise to a molded entablatcre and broken profile shelf. Fixed in a niche to the right (east) 
of the chimney stack is an eighteenth-century, two-part cupboard with decorative shelving and a 
shell carved back within the arched operung, and a sing!e raised-panel door covering the lower 
cabinet. Raised-panel window seats combine with Federal window moldings around each window 
opening. The door between the parlor and the northeast room (library) has been widened. 

The library is served by a corner fireplace framed by a plain mid nineteenth-century 
mantel. Raised-panel window seats survive in this room as well, and the windows are framed by 
early nineteenth-century Federal surrounds. The interior door from the library to the hall retains 
its mid eighteenth-century ogee profile backhand surround, six-panel door, and wrought-iro!l H-L 
hinges. 

Distinguishing the rear passage is a closed stringer, turned baluster staircase that appears 
to date from the second quarter of the eighteenth century. Square posts topped by molded caps 
anchor a molded handrail. A row of turned balusters, one of which was inserted upside down, 
is fixed between the handrail and the closed stringer, which is trimmed with a bold ogee molded 
front and accompanied by a triangular raised panel below. The closed stringer staircase rises with 
winder steps to another straight flight to the second floor. Beneath the main stair is a cellar stair 
accessed through a one-over-one paneled door. The cellar stair door is installed on an odd 
diagonal angle to the staircase. On the second floor a turned baluster railing stretches across the 
second floor hali. This section of railing has a slightly different molding than the handrail molding 
of the main staircase. 

The final first floor room, located in the southeast comer, is served by a comer fireplace 
framed by a mid nineteenth-century bracketed mantel. The room is lighted by a single window 

(Continued) 
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that is trimmed with Federal moldings, and it retains its eighteenth-century, raised-panel window 
seat. A tum of the century beaded, tongue-and-groove board cabinet is fixed in the northeast 
comer of the room. 

The second floor is partitioned like the first floor with two large front rooms and twc 
smaller rooms in back that are separated by the staircase and second floor hall. The staircase rises 
to the attic with a turned baluster railing on one side and a beaded board partition on the other. 
The vertical board partition separates the staircase from a narrow hall that provides access to the 
chambers on the nonh side of the house. Vertical board partitions also serve as a partition 
between the hall and chambers on the nonh and £,)uth side of the staircase. Raised panel doors 
opens into the various chambers, which are finished with a combination of eighteenth- and 
nineteenth-century features. 

The northwest front chamber, like the parlor below, is served by a square fronted chimney 
stack. The firebox has a segmental arch and is framed by a bracketed mantel shelf. The piaster 
has been removed from the stack. A built-in beaded board Victorian closet in located in a comer. 
The perimeter of the room is trimmed with a beaded edge baseboard. The northeast chamber is 
entered through a raised six-panel door, a.'ld the room is served by a comer fireplace. A built-in 
Victorian beaded board closet in fixed in the comer opposite the fireplace. 

The southwest front chamber is entered through a one-over-one raised-panel door. The 
room is distinguished by a square fronted chimney stack pierced by a segmental arched firebox 
opening. The firebox is framed by a nineteenth-century bracketed mantel. 

The southeast chamber has been subdivided with mid to late nineteenth-century partitions 
to enclose a bathroom and closets. A raised six-panel door has been rehung on a later closet door 
opening. Victorian surrounds frame the door openings in the partitioned chamber as well as the 
second floor of the rear wing. 

The attic is divided into several rooms with later partitions. Exposed on the east side of 
the attic is a principal rafter, butt-purlin roof system with the original wide pine nailers. The room 
partitions date from the twentieth centur:'. 

(Continued) 
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A full cellar is only found beneath the northern half of the brick house. A brick partition 
divides the space into two rooms. A corner support for the chimney stack is located in the 
northeast room, while a square front stack support distinguishes the northwest room. Each stack 
suppon has a round arched opening. 

Standing behind the house is a single-story rusticated concrete block garage topped by a 
pyramidal slate roof The north wall is pierced by a garage door and six-over-six sash windows 
light the interior. A small frame appendage is attached to the west side, and it shelters a former 
weli. 
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Primrose Hill is architecturally significant on account of its mid eighteenth-century Georgian 
design and construction, and the property is historically important with its direct association to the 
American portraitist, John Hesselius (1728-1778), who resided in this house between c. 1763 and 
his death. The two-story, four-room plan brick dwelling, dating around 1760, was built on an 
elaborate scale in line with other gentry houses in Anne Arundel County. Larken Hill's (1753) 
near Harwood and the Tilton House (c. 1760) on Maryland Avenue in Annapolis are 
contemporaneous Georgian dwellings exhibiting related plans and construction features. 

Assembled with a combination of header, Flemish, and common bond walls rising to 
boldly executed cove cornices, Primrose Hill was designed after a version of the "Annapolis 
plan," a room disposition defined by four p:i.:icipal spaces on the first floor. Reflective of the 
four-room plan is the four-bay southwest (ma:nJ eie\ ation, which Eke the Tilton House, 
incorporates an off-center entrCL11ce. The brick elevat!ons are defined by standard masonry 
conventions for the time with a molded watertable at the foundation level and beltcourses at the 
second and third floor levels. A front entrance hall, se!"' 1ed by a comer fireplace, is distinguished 
by an original built-in architectural comer cupboard with arched doors and flanking pilasters. The 
two windows boast raised-panel window seats, and original moldings frame several door 
openings. The hall is flanked on the left (north) by a large parlor, which is also distinguished by a 
built-in display cupboard highlighted by a shell-carved back. The windows in the parlor are also 
enhanced by raised-panel window seats. The hall and parior front two smal!er back rooms wliich. 
are separated by a rear stair hall. In contrast to the original Georgian finishes, the staircase 
follows a closed stringer, turned baluster form that is more characteristic of the second quaner of 
the eighteenth century. The staircase surviving at the Charles Carroll Barrister House on the St. 
John's Campus is a close parallel. Due to some idiosyncratic finish aspects of the stair 
construction, it may have been salvaged from a second quarter of the eighteenth-century structure 
and reinstalled here. Also atypical of c. 1760 dwellings are several one-over-one panel doors that 
were probabiy salvaged and reused as well. 

John Hesselius occupies an important place in the history of colonial America.11 painting as 
the country's first native born artist. He worked principally in the field of ponraiture, depicting 
wealthy individuals and families. Living and working in Maryland and traveling to adjacent 
colonies of Virginia, Pennsylvania, and possibly New Jersey, John Hesselius attained regional 
prominence as a portraitist, and his surviving body of work reflects his acceptance by the colonial 
gentry as a skilled painter for the period. His paintings of the Calvert family are some of the best 
known and often reproduced examples of his work. John Hesselius also served as an early 
instructor for anist Charles Willson Peale, who dominated mid-Atlantic painting after the 
Revolution. 
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Primrose Hill served as the principal residence of John Hesselius and his wife, Mary 
Young Woodward, and their family. The large plantation descended through Mary Hesselius's 
family, from her grandfather Samuel to her father Richard until her acquisition of the 
plantation during the mid eighteenth century. The specific building date of Primrose Hill is not 
known, but architectural details place its construction around 1760. Henry Woodward (1733-
1761), Mary's first husband, may have built the house prior to his death, or construction may have 
coincided with Mary Woodward's marriage to John Hesselius in 1763. It is also conceivable that 
the Primrose Hill house was under construction in 1761 and not finished until some time 
afterwards. Despite this uncertainty, the hc!l~e was complete by 1769 when a violent hail storm 
passed through the Annapolis area. 1 The Maryland Gazette announced on August 3rd: 

On Sunday Evening last, a very black Cloud arose from the Westward, which broke in the 
Neighborhood of this City, at Mr. Hesse/ius 's, and from thence to London-Town: A great 
Quantity of Hail-Stone fell, or rather Cakes of Ice, as they were flat and oblong, many of 
them Five or Six Inches in Circumference, Every Pane of Glass on the West Side, and 
upper Story of Mr. Hesse/ius 's House, were beat in, and many Windows in London-Tov.n 
greatly damaged On several Plantations, the Corn was cut, so that it is now withering 
away. 

John Hesselius, America's first native born artist, resided at Primrose Hill, and the property 
comprised over 500 acres bordering Spa Creek southwest of Annapolis. Identified in the land 
records as "Youngs Inn," the plantation passed from Samuel Young to his son Richard Young, 
and then to his daughter Mary by 1748.2 On the occasion of Mary's marriage to Henry 
Woodward in June 1755, the Maryland Gazette states that Miss Mary Young is the daughter 
and heiress of the late Richard Young and granddaughter of the late Hon. Samuel Young, Esq. 
who had a "pretty fortune." 3 Henry Woodward's untimely death in September 1761, at age 28, 

1 Maryland Gazette, August 3, 1769. 

2 Richard Young died intestate in 1748. His wife Rebecca served as his administratrix and 
witnessed an inventory recorded 7 November 1750. 

3 Green, Karen Mauer, The Maryland Gazette, 1727-1761: Genealogical and Historical 
Abstracts (Frontier Press: Galveston, 1989), p. 150. 
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Less than two years later, on January 30, 1763, Mary Woodward married John Hesselius, 
and the coupled resided at Primrose Hill. By the testimony of the room-by-room inventory 
assembled at the time of John Hesselius' s death fu4:een years later, the two-story brick dwelling 
was furnished in a high style with a large quantity of expensive, imported furniture including 
mahogany and walnut chests and tables, a harpsichord valued at L 35, and a large assortment of 
prints and paintings. Also included among his goods and chattels were 194 ounces of silver plate, 
assessed at L 77 .. 12 .. 0. Listed under his ownership at Primrose Hill were nine slaves valued at L 
480. Another plantation, known as "St. Carys" or "Bellfield," was assessed with 22 slaves and 
an ex1ensive assortment of oxen, cattle, sheep, latllbs, young as well as mature horses, and mules. 
Altogether John Hesselius's movable estate topped an impressive L 3400.4 In his will, executed in 
1778, he identifies himself as a "limner," and he bequeaths substantial sums to his wife and 
cliildren. 

John Hesselius's life as a painter and his place in American art history have been we!l 
established. The son of Gustavus Hesselius, a Swedish immigra.rit and painter in his own right, 
John Hesselius grew up in Philadelphia and moved to Maryland around 1760 following his 
father's death in 1755. s In 1761 he is listed in the records of St. Anne's Parish as a "batchelor" 
with an estate worth "L 300 or upward3." 6 John Hesselius's four paintings of Benedict Calvert's 
children are dated 1761. 7 Scores of portraits executed by Hesselius during his working career 
from c. 1750-1778 support the assessment that he was a major figure in mid-Atlantic American 
painting prior to the Revolution. 8 During his residency in Anne Arundei County at Primrose Hill, 

4 Anne Arundel County Inventory, John Hesselius, Box lA, Folder 9, appraised by Robert 
Cowden a.Tld William Thomas, July 1778. 

s Doud, Richard Keith, John Hesse/ius: His Life and Work, (University of Delaware 
Master's Thesis, 1963) p. 12 

6 Doub, p. 14 

7 Doub, pp. 6 

1 Wilmerding, John ed. The Genius of American Painting, (William Morrow & Co., New 
York, 1973) p. 60. 
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Charles Willson Peale visited there in an early effort to learn how to paint portraits. In an 
exchange for one of Peale's best saddles and fittings, Hesselius painted one half of a face, leay;.ng 
the other half to be painted by Peale. Peale then watched Hesselius paint two portraits. 9 

Following John Hesselius's death in 1778, Mary remained at Primrose Hill with her 
children. By record of the 1783 tax assessment Mary owned "Young's Ir.n," totaling 556 acres, 
thirteen slaves, 194 ounces of "silver plate," and an assortment of horses, cattle and sheep. Her 
property at the time was assessed at L 2100. 10 During her residency at Pri.rnrose Hill, l\1rs. 
Hesselius was inspired by the Methodist teachings of Reverend George Whitefield with whom ·; 
she corresponded. She opened Primrose Hill to early followers of Methodism who resided in the' 
area. 

Sometime after the tum of the nineteenth century, Mary Hesselius relocated to Baltimore, 
and the Pri.rnrose Hill plantation was ofrered for sale by her son Joh.1. In an advertisement placed 
in the .Maryland Gazette in 1797, the paper stated: 

To be Sold on or before the J(jh of April next, about two miles from the city of Annapolis 
A Tract of Land, containing 686 acres, with a commodious brick dwelling-house, two 
stories high, four rooms on a floor, a new brick kitchen aa]oining, all is good repair, also 
a new stable, with their convenient out houses and an excellent garden, containing a 
choice collection of fruit trees & c. Great part of the said land is well timbered and lies 
convenient to the town. There are two tenements, one of them situated on a hill about a 
mile from the city, commanding a beautiful prospect, and would answer to be sold 
separate from the other dwelling, with any m'mber of acres that may best suit the 

h 11 pure aser ... 

9 Richardson, Edgar P., Hindle, Brooke, Miller, Lillian B., Charles Willson Peale and His 
World, (Harry N. Abrams, Inc. New York, N. Y., 1983) p. 26. 

10 1783 Tax Assessment, Mary Hesselius, Middle Neck Hundred, Maryland State 
Archives. 

11 Maryland Gazette, January 19, 1797. 
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Despite the declaration that the property would be sold by April 1797, Primrose Hill 
remained in Hesselius family hands until the early nineteenth century. On October 15, 1806, Mary 
Hesselius, listed of "Baltimore County, widow," sold 544 acres of"Young's Inn" and "Keith's 
Landing" to Robert McGill for L6370 .. 9 .. 6., the mortgage for which was assumed later by 
William Kilty. Due to McGill's failure to make good on the debt, Primrose Hill was officially sold 
to William Kilty on June 11, 1811. 12 William Kilty retained ownership of the plantation a short 
time, transferring title in 1815 to Lewis Neth, a prominent Annapolis merchant who also owned 
the Paca House during the early nineteenth century. 

During the mid to late nineteen~h cemury, Prirr.rose Hill was occupied by a number of 
individuals. At the time of the 18 78 atlas map primed by G. M. Hopkins, the farm was held by 
Frank H. Stockett, who held tit1e to 435 1/4 acres. 13 Following Stockett ownership, Primrose Hill 
was held by a handful of families. The fa.:.-m comprised over 400 acres until the early twentieth 
century. In 1917 the old brick house and 207 acres were acquired by Kenneth R. Comer of 
Cleveland, Ohio. 14 The Comers were long-term owners of the farm. During the mid to late 
twentieth century the house and reduced acreage was held by Dr. Walter Earl Landmesser, Jr., 
who acquired ownership in 1956 and sold it to the present owners in 1998 .15 

12 Anne Arundel County Land Record, NH 16/611, Mary Hesselius, Baltimore County, 
widow to William Kilty, Anne Arundel County, Maryland. 

13 Anne Arundel County Land Record, GEG 2/526, 6 March 1867. 

14 Anne Arundel County Land Record, GW 13 9/31, 22 August 1917. 

15 Anne Arundel County Land Record, 1031/298, 24 May 1956, and 8223/324, 22 
December 1998. 



... -­.. ( 
~· 

United States Department of the Interior 
Na!I.Pnal Park Service 

National Register of Historic Places 
Continuation Sheet 

Section number _i_o_ Page _ 1 __ 

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION 

AA-169 
Primrose Hill 

a.,,,__ __ ,, 

Anne Arundel County, Maryland 

The nominated house is situated on a 2.0 acre parcel delineated in a location drawing entitled Lot 
lA-R of the Landmesser Property located at 3 Milkshake Lane in the City of Annapolis, Anne 
Arundel County, Maryland. The 2.0 acre parcel, as delineated, borders Milkshake Lane on its 
northwest side for a distance of 91. 72 feet, and then follows by and with the delineated boundary 
as shown in the directions and courses thereby indicated. 

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION 

The nominated property, 2.0 acres, represents the remnant of the property 
historically associated with the resource. The property is surrounded on 
all sides by mid-20th century residential development. 
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"Primrose Farm" is a large 2 1/2 story brick house located on the 
outskirts of Annapolis. The building, alnost a cube, has an A-roof, end 
chimneys and a four-bay facade. A 2-story brick wing with a shed roof and 
an end chimney has been added to the rear of the house. The brick on both 
sections has been painted white. The main section stands on a high, cham­
ferred, water table and there are two belt courses. Under the eaves on 
the north and south sides there is a plain, coved cornice. The windows 
all have louvred shutters and, except those on the ends of the third floor, 
are set in segmental arches. The 1st floor windows have 9/9 panes; the 
second floor: 9/6 panes, with narrow 4/4 pane openings in the end walls. 
The 6/6 pane openings on the end walls of the third floor are probably 
enlargements. There are two 6/6 pane, segmentally arched, dormers on the 
south side of the roof. The screened porch a~ross the south side of the 
house is a 20th century addition. The front entrance is on the south side, 
in the second bay from the east end of the house. 

Some alterations were made to the interior of the house in the early 
1900's but little has been changed since. The windows on the first floor 
have seats under them. There are two cabinets, one a corner cabinet in 
the south east room, the other, a shell cabinet in the south-west room, 
which appear to be original. The two fireplaces on the east end of the 
first floor are set on the diagonal. The others in the house are parallel 
to the wall. The stair is without intermediate landings, having windows 
instead. The balusters are ornately turned. The stair is enclosed in 
vertical, beaded panels which go up to the third floor. Most of the 
moldings, hardware, doors and glass in the house appear original. The two 
story wing contains the present kitchen. There is a basement under the west 
half of the main section. 
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"Primrose Farm" is believed to have been built in 1732 by a member 
of the Hesselius family. It issi.id that John Hesselius, the painter, 
who died in 1778, was buried on the farm. Another claim is that 
John Hesselius was buried at "Belfield" near Whitehall in an unmarked 
grave). 

"Primrose Farm" consisted of about 850 acres in the early 1900's • 
It has gradually been subdivided. The house is pictured in the Life 
and Times of the Reverend Walter Addison, 1769-1848, compiled by~~ 
Elizabeth Hesselius Murray, Philadelphia, George W. Jacobs and Co., 1895 
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